IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

5

a

12-

NO. 65,913

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT TRUST FUND,

Petitioner,

vs.

MOBIL OIL CORPORATION,

Respondent.

Chief Deputy Clork On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal, Second District

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JIM SMITH Attorney General of Florida

ROBERT J. BECKHAM BECKHAM, MCALILEY & SCHULZ, P.A. 3131 Independent Square Jacksonville, Florida 32202 Co-Counsel Roberts, Miller, Bagsett, JAMES R. HUBBARD LAFACE, Richard & 1250 AmeriFirst Building One Southeast Third Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 Contraction Contraction Contraction Tallahassee

1

Ű

29 1884

OLERK, SUPREME COURT

oct

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. DO THE 1883 SWAMP AND OVERFLOW LANDS DEEDS ISSUED BY THE TRUSTEES INCLUDE SOVEREIGNTY LANDS BELOW THE ORDINARY HIGH-WATER MARK OF NAVIGABLE WATERS? (CERTIFIED)

ĩ

- B. DOES THE DOCTRINE OF LEGAL ESTOPPEL OR ESTOPPEL BY DEED APPLY TO 1883 SWAMP AND OVERFLOWED DEEDS BARRING THE TRUSTEES' ASSERTION OF TITLE TO SOVEREIGNTY LANDS? (CERTIFIED)
- C. DOES THE MARKETABLE RECORD TITLE ACT, CHAPTER 712, FLORIDA STATUTES, OPERATE TO DIVEST THE TRUSTEES OF TITLE TO SOVEREIGNTY LANDS BELOW THE ORDINARY HIGH WATER MARK OF NAVIGABLE RIVERS? (<u>CERTIFIED</u>)
- D. WHETHER MOBIL'S EARLIER LITIGATION IN ANOTHER CIRCUIT OF THE PRECISE SOVEREIGNTY TITLE ISSUES PRESENTED BY THE COMPLAINT HERE BARS THEIR RELITIGATION BELOW.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 27, 1982, Mobil filed this guiet title action (which the parties refer to as Mobil IV) in Polk County Circuit Court against the Board of Trustees and Coastal Petroleum Company, claiming fee simple title to portions of the bed of the Peace River between Bartow and Fort Meade, in Polk County. Mobil's ownership claim was premised upon chains of title originating with Trustees' "swamp and overflow lands" deeds (or similar federal patents), issued predominately in the late 1800's to its predecessors in title, that encompass the riverbeds in issue within their boundaries, and contain no reservation for navigable The complaint alleged that sovereignty title claims to waters. these riverbeds by the Trustees, and derivatively by Coastal, in litigation pending in Leon County Circuit Court in Tallahassee, placed Mobil in doubt as to its ownership of the lands, and sought a decree confirming title in its favor. (R. 1, A. 1-6.) $\frac{1}{2}$

The Trustees' answer claimed the disputed lands as sovereignty lands -- lands beneath navigable waters acquired by Florida at statehood by virtue of its sovereignty. The Trustees asserted that though not meandered in the 1855 federal survey of the new state, the portions of the Peace River in dispute were navigable in fact in 1845, that the riverbeds passed as a result into state ownership under the equal footing doctrine, and that

<u>I</u>/ Mobil Oil Corporation v. Coastal Petroleum Company, et al., Case No. 76-2078 (Mobil I). Coastal Petroleum Company holds a 1941 sovereignty lands lease from the Trustees, under which it counterclaimed for conversion in the Mobil I proceedings, claiming that Mobil unlawfully mined phosphate ore from sovereignty lands covered by their 1941 lease, and joined the Trustees.

as sovereignty lands they were reserved by operation of law from swamp and overflow deeds by Florida's Public Trust Doctrine.

The Trustees' title claim was founded upon the historical distinction between sovereignty lands, and swamp and overflow lands. Swamp and overflow lands are those coursed by non-navigable waters, and are characterized as uplands. They were acquired by Florida by patent from the United States after passage of the 1850 Swamp Land Grant Act, and in 1855 the Florida legislature vested title to all such lands in the Trustees, and authorized their sale and disposition. Chapter 610, Laws of Florida (1855). Sovereignty lands, however, are those coursed by navigable waters, and were acquired by the state by operation of law, not by patent, as a privilege of statehood. Unlike swamp and overflow lands, title to Florida's freshwater sovereignty lands was not vested in the Trustees until 1969, after the 1968 Florida Constitution specifically incorporated the public trust doctrine's prohibition against alienation of sovereignty lands without a specific finding of public interest -- and long after the deeds in dispute were issued. Ch. 69-308, Laws of Florida. Accordingly, the Trustees contended that prior to 1969, freshwater sovereignty lands were held by the state in trust for the people of Florida, alienable only by act of the legislature, and accordingly that the early Trustees were without authority to divest the public trust of title to the freshwater sovereignty lands in issue here.

The Trustees' position, therefore, was that the factual navigability of the rivers at statehood was the critical question -- that it determined ownership.

-3-

On May 17, 1982, Mobil served its Motion For Summary Judgment, and noticed a hearing on the motion for June 4th. (R. 49). Mobil argued that under Section 197.228(2), Fla. Stat., the question of navigability in fact was foreclosed by the failure of the 1855 federal survey to meander the Peace in the area in dispute, and the inclusion of the disputed riverbeds within the perimeters of the disputed deeds. Alternatively, Mobil argued that even if the lands were sovereignty in character, the present Trustees were barred from asserting their sovereignty title claim by the doctrine of legal estoppel, and Florida's Marketable Record Title Act, Chapter 712, Fla. Stat., and by the application of these statutes and principles of law by this Court in <u>Odom v.</u> <u>Deltona Corp.</u>, 341 So.2d 977 (Fla. 1977).

Also on May 17, 1982, the Trustees filed a Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative to Stay on the ground that the Leon County Circuit Court in <u>Mobil I</u> either had exclusive jurisdiction (in which case dismissal was appropriate) or exclusive venue to try the issues presented (in which case a stay was appropriate), relying upon this Court's decision <u>Mabie v. Garden Street Manage-</u> <u>ment Corp.</u>, 397 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1981), and Mobil's earlier litigation in <u>Mobil I</u> of the precise sovereignty title issues it was attempting to relitigate in <u>Mobil IV</u>. (R. 214.) $\frac{2}{}$ The <u>Mobil I</u> conversion claims were premised upon the contention that the

<u>2/ Mobil I</u> was initiated by Mobil's complaint in Leon County Circuit Court in September of 1976. Mobil sued Coastal in contract, alleging that Coastal had violated a sublease issued to Mobil for oil exploration upon sovereignty lands initially leased to Coastal by the Trustees in 1941 (Lease 224-B). Coastal then included among its counterclaims a claim for the conversion of phosphate ore and other minerals from the Lease 224-B sovereignty lands, and joined the Trustees as a counterplaintiff.

Trustees held title to the lands. Mobil's principal defense was that <u>it</u>, <u>not the Trustees</u>, <u>was the owner of the River</u> -- precisely the same claim it later presented as plaintiff in <u>Mobil IV</u>. On November 20, 1979, fearing that Coastal would attempt to nonsuit its conversion claim and refile in federal court, Mobil filed a "reciprocal" or "reply" counterclaim in <u>Mobil I</u> in Leon County that specifically sought a declaratory judgment that it was the owner of the Peace River beds in issue (though limited to one test parcel). (A.11-19). Mobil's reply counterclaim asked the Leon County Circuit Court to

> Invoke its jurisdiction to render a declaratory judgment pursuant to Chapter 86, Florida Statutes (1977), and declare that MOBIL owns the lands described in paragraph 2, above. .

(A.17).

The complaint below in <u>Mobil IV</u>, filed in 1982, presented for decision precisely the same title issues presented by Mobil's declaratory counterclaim in Mobil I in 1979.

By Order of June 3, 1982, the Polk County Circuit Court denied the Trustees' Motion to Dismiss or to Stay (R.559). Interlocutory appeals of the Trustees and Coastal, challenging the Circuit Court's venue under <u>Mabie</u>, were filed in the Second District Court of Appeal on June 8, 1982, pursuant to the provisions of Fla. App. Rule 9.130(a)(3)(A), $\frac{3}{2}$ and dismissed by the

3/ Board of Trustees v. Mobil Oil Corporation, Case No. 82-1392.

District Court by order of July 7, 1982 (R. 650, A.20).^{4/} On July 30, 1982, the Circuit Court entered final summary judgment in favor of Mobil. (R. 792, A.21-35). Notice of Appeal was timely filed by the Trustees on August 30, 1982. (R. 858). The final summary judgment was affirmed by the Second District by opinion filed on July 13, 1984. (A.36-46).

The trial court judgment pretermitted any factual resolution of the navigability dispute, holding that the Trustees' swamp and overflow lands deeds, and the federal swamp land patents, operated to divest the public trust of title to all lands within their boundaries whether coursed by navigable rivers or not. The trial court, and the District Court, held that under Section 197.288(2), the issuance of the Trustees's deeds without reservation of title to the disputed lands created a conclusive, unrebuttable presumption that the rivers were non-navigable, and thus that the lands were freely alienable; that even if the lands were sovereignty lands, the present Board was barred from asserting a sovereignty title claim by the doctrine of legal estoppel; and finally that Florida's Marketable Record Title likewise barred any otherwise valid sovereignty title claim. Odom was relied upon for the result. By order of September 4, 1984, the District Court certified to this Court as questions of great public importance the three principle issues raised by the title dispute.

<u>4</u> On August 6, 1982, the Trustees' Petition For Writ of Mandamus was filed in this Court, challenging the dismissal of the Trustees' interlocutory appeal. On January 20, 1983, the Court issued an Order to Show Cause, and Mobil's Response was filed on February 16, 1983. On September 28, 1983, the Petition was dismissed. <u>Board of Trustees v. T. Truett Ott, Chief Judge</u>, et al., No. 62,442, Florida Supreme Court.

The Trustees' Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was timely filed on September 18, 1984, pursuant to Rule 9.030(a) (2)(v), Fla. R. App. P. By order of September 24, 1984, this Court directed the service of Petitioner's brief on the merits by October 17, 1984. $\frac{5}{}$

ARGUMENT

<u>Introduction</u>

The Board of Trustees, consisting of the constitutionally elected members of the Florida Cabinet, challenges the decision below as an unwarranted and unsupported extension of <u>Odom</u>, and the statutes discussed in that opinion, to unmeandered portions of Florida's rivers whose navigability at statehood can be established by competent evidence.

The Board contends that neither the Florida Legislature, nor this Court in <u>Odom</u>, intended that Section 197.228(2) be utilized to strip portions of Florida's historic river system from the public trust if the burden of establishing their navigability can be met. That statute is limited by its own language to unme-

^{5/} The District Court opinion reviewed here directly addresses only the <u>Mabie</u> issue of prior exclusive venue in the <u>Mobil</u> I court. It resolves the ownership question in <u>Mobil's favor by</u> adopting its opinion on the three certified title issues in <u>American Cyanamid Co., et al. v. Coastal Petroleum Co., et al.,</u> Case No. 83-1378/83-1413, 83-1425/1478 (<u>Cyanamid III and Estech</u> II), decided the same day as this Appeal. (A. 47-56.) <u>Cyanamid</u> <u>III and Estech II</u> are now before this Court in Case No. 65,696/65,775 (Consolidated), and the Trustees have suggested there, in their Brief on the Merits served September 25, 1984, that this proceeding and the <u>Cyanamid/Estech</u> proceeding may appropriately be calendared for argument at the same session of the Court. The three certified issues in each appeal are identical, and the Trustees' arguments upon the three certified sovereignty title claims are likewise identical in each brief on the merits.

andered lakes, ponds, and swamp and overflow lands. It was designed to facilitate the assessment of property taxes on unmeandered lakes and ponds, and remains, 31 years after passage, codified outside the 28 pages of state laws pertaining to state lands. Prior to the enactment of Section 197.228(2), this Court, on four separate occasions, in decisions among its most venerable, applied the common law Public Trust Doctrine to except sovereignty submerged lands from Trustees' swamp and overflow deeds, recognizing that the Board did not hold title to Florida's sovereignty lands, and thus had no authority at the time the swamp lands conveyances were made to divest the public trust of sovereignty lands. In the face of this history, there is no support for the view that the legislature intended by its enactment of Section 197.228(2) to effect a wholesale abolition of the Public Trust Doctrine, and to foreclose sovereignty claims to all navigable but unmeandered rivers and streams in Florida.

,

The second foundation of the decision below is the doctrine of legal estoppel, or estoppel by deed. The District Court's application of this doctrine, upon these facts, is without support in Florida law. It is applied here, for the first time, to accomplish the alienation of public trust lands by a state agency without title to the lands at the time the deeds were issued, and without authority today to alienate them without a constitutionally mandated finding of public interest in their divestiture. Art. X, §11, Fla. Const.; § 253.115, Fla. Stat. Prior to the decision below, Florida courts have refused to permit the <u>ultra</u> <u>vires</u> or unauthorized acts of state officials to effect a divestiture of public lands. <u>Odom</u> is inapposite, for there the Court

-8-

specifically characterized the lakes involved as non-navigable as a matter of law, under Section 197.228(2), and their conveyance accordingly lawful. Here, the Trustees could not lawfully convey the sovereignty lands in issue.

Finally, the Court is asked today to resolve the question of whether the Marketable Record Title Act (MRTA) may be utilized to divest the state of title to sovereignty lands. This issue, the Trustees believe, has not been resolved by this Court. Odom, contrary to its construction below, applied MRTA to extinguish the Trustee' title claim to unmeandered lakes and ponds the Court defined under Section 197.228(2) as non-sovereignty in character by operation of law. Odom makes no finding that the lakes were navigable in fact but nevertheless divested by MRTA from the public trust. There is simply no such holding in the case. This view is supported by the fact that this Court, on two occasions since Odom, has reserved the question of MRTA's applicability to extinguish state title to sovereignty lands. Askew v. Sonson, 409 So.2d 7, 9 (Fla. 1981); City of Miami v. St. Joe Paper Co., 364 So.2d 439, 455, 449 (Fla. 1978).

There is language in <u>Odom</u>, however, which suggests that title to sovereignty lands may be extinguished by MRTA. $\frac{6}{}$ It is the basis of Mobil's MRTA argument below, and the District

Odom, supra, 341 So.2d at 989 (emphasis supplied).

^{6/ [}T]he claims of the Trustees to beds underlying navigable waters previously conveyed are extinguished by the Act. Stability of titles expressly requires that, when <u>lawfully</u> <u>executed land conveyances</u> are made by public officials to private citizens without reservation of public rights . . . state officials should not . . . take from the grantee the rights which have been conveyed previously. . .

Court's application of the statute here. We argue in the text that follows that this language is <u>dicta</u>, since the <u>Odom</u> Court specifically held that the lands in issue there were non-sovereignty in character -- unlike here -- and thus were previously <u>lawfully</u> conveyed. This language from <u>Odom</u> was of sufficient concern, however, that the legislature, in a 1978 special session called in direct response, amended the Act to specifically exclude sovereignty lands from its operation. § 712.03(7) Fla. Stat. (1978). While we believe it clear that the 1963 legislature could not, and did not intend to divest the public trust of sovereignty lands by the enactment of MRTA, there now exists a specific statutory exemption of sovereignty lands from MRTA clarifying the immunity of sovereignty lands from its operation.

The District Court refused to apply the sovereignty lands amendment as interpretive of the scope of the statute as originally enacted. Though use of the amendment may not be necessary, since fair construction of MRTA's originally enacted exceptions, together with the public trust doctrine, render it inapplicable to sovereignty lands, the 1978 amendment specifically excluding sovereignty lands is a formal legislative interpretation of the scope of the statute that is the only clear legislative expression on this important question.

If <u>MRTA</u> is interpreted to protect sovereignty lands from divestiture <u>only after the 1978 amendment</u>, <u>state title to the</u> <u>entire class of sovereignty lands presented by this case will be</u> <u>extinguished</u>. The lands discussed here -- navigable but unmeandered riverbeds -- are primarily encompassed by Trustees' swamp and overflow lands deeds issued long before the 30 year

-10-

vesting period provided by <u>MRTA</u>. Some 21 million acres within Florida were the subject of these ancient Trustees' deeds. If <u>MRTA</u> is applied during the 1963-1978 pre-amendment period to extinguish the Trustees' title to sovereignty lands encompassed by these deeds, state title to all such sovereignty lands will have been lost with the expiration of the Act's savings clause on July 1, 1965. <u>That is eight years before any court in Florida</u> <u>suggested the possibility of such a divestiture</u>, <u>eleven years</u> <u>before Odom</u>, and four years before the Trustees acquired title to the lands!

Such an application of MRTA results in the unconstitutional divestiture of state title to sovereignty lands without due process of law. If so applied, MRTA extinguishes state title to the class of sovereignty lands in issue without affording the state, or the Trustees, any reasonable time or means to catalogue the subject lands, and preserve state title by proper notice. MRTA's two year savings clause -- <u>expiring four years before the Trustees even acquired title</u> -- accordingly is unconstitutional as applied.

The significance of these issues to the public interest cannot be questioned. There is ample evidence that the meandering of navigable waters in the early survey of Florida was inexact and incomplete, as the surveyors struggled with the water and terrain which today are our valuable heritage. There is abundant evidence in this record that the portions of the Peace River in dispute here were traveled by the phosphate barges of Mobil's predecessors, and other commercial craft. There is ample evidence that Mobil and its predecessors were on notice of the

-11-

navigability of the waters in issue. $\frac{7}{2}$ Thus there is ample evidence, foreclosed by the decisions below, that there is wisdom in the law's preservation of such waters, upon competent proof, for the public trust. The Court is asked today to decide whether such riverbeds may remain presumptively within the public trust, or whether they will forever be characterized as private lands.

۲

The procedural issue presented here is as significant to the administration of justice as the title issues are to the future of Florida's public trust lands. For over five years before this suit was filed, Mobil and the Trustees had been litigating the question of the ownership of the Peace River in Mobil I in Tallahassee. Mobil lost the title question in Mobil I before the Leon County Circuit Court, and the United States District Court, and after remand of Mobil I to Leon County Circuit Court, sought a third bite at the apple by instituting the title suit below. That complaint presented precisely the same title dispute twice resolved against Mobil in pretrial stages of Mobil I. This blatant forum shopping and improper relitigation in a sister circuit is properly prohibited in Florida, Mabie v. Garden Street Management Corp., 397 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1982), and the failure below to stay or dismiss this action pending final determination of the ownership dispute in <u>Mobil I</u> in Leon County is grave error. If allowed to go forward, the suit below renders the rule in Mabie a hollow shell.

⁷ This evidence is collected in affidavits filed by Coastal, and in Coastal's Response to the Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 380-433, 441-531).

A. THE SOVEREIGNTY LANDS ISSUE

Certified Question

Do The 1883 Swamp And Overflowed Lands Deeds Issued By The Trustees Include Sovereignty Lands Below The Ordinary High-Water Mark of Navigable Rivers?

Argument

Conveyances by the Trustees of swamp and overflow lands do not include sovereignty lands below the ordinary high water mark of navigable rivers, where the Trustees held no title to such sovereignty lands at the time of the conveyances.

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