IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS. 165.755 65,696 OCT 15 1984 L

CLERK, SUPKLINE COURT,

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE

INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT FUND, and CGASTAL PETROLEUM COMPANY,

Petitioners,

vs.

AMERICAN CYANAMID COMPANY, and ESTECH, INC.,

Respondents.

On Discretionary Review from the Second District Court of Appeal

Chesterfield Smith Julian Clarkson Hume F. Coleman HOLLAND & KNIGHT Post Office Drawer 810 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 224-7000

Attorneys for Respondents

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS. 65,755 65,696

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT FUND, and COASTAL PETROLEUM COMPANY,

Petitioners,

vs.

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

The Trustees' statement that the <u>Gerbing</u> case involved a nonmeandered river (Br. 29) is wrong. The Court's opinion refers to the Amelia River, an admittedly navigable river, as having a defined channel and does not even discuss meandering.

<sup>17</sup>The Trustees' suggestion (Br. 28) that the district court's decision under Point I is founded solely on "decisions by the government surveyors" is incorrect. The precise statement by the court was as follows: "The contemporaneous findings made by the Trustees when they executed their conveyances and the decisions by the government surveyors not to meander any of these watercourses are not now open to question." (Emphasized language was omitted from Trustees' brief.) Thus, the present Trustees, 125 years after the facts, seek to second-guess not only the government surveyors but also Governor Madison S. Perry, who requested federal patents covering these swamp and overflow lands, and Governor William D. Bloxham, who signed deeds conveying the lands into private ownership.

The trial court properly recognized that the Trustees' assertion of navigability now is legally irrelevant. In considering the Trustees' argument that the court must consider not what the government surveyors had done but what they should have done, the court quoted from Odom v. Deltona Corp., 341 So.2d 977, 987 (Fla. 1976):

This Court is in a poor posture to evaluate the work of those surveyors of many decades past. It can only be accepted that they did their job as instructed and recorded what they found then, which may or may not be what appears now. Fresh water lakes and ponds do change rather significantly because of both natural and artificial alterations in the areas involved. It is to be observed that governmental conveyances were made in reliance on them and the grantees of such conveyances had the right to assume the U.S. government and the Trustees were acting lawfully.

The Trustees argue (Br. 25) that Odom does not deal with navigable waters and consequently does not support the decision in respondents' favor. Their argument is demonstrably incorrect for two reasons. First, this Court expressly applied its holding to navigable waters, concluding that

the claims of the Trustees to beds underlying navigable waters previously conveyed are extinguished by the [Marketable Record Title] Act.

341 So.2d at 989 (emphasis added). Second, had the Court been affirming the trial court's decision in Odom on the basis that the waters involved there were nonnavigable, it would have been unnecessary to address the issues of legal estoppel, equitable estoppel and Marketable Record Title Act (MRTA). A determination

of nonnavigability would have ended the case by eliminating any claim of sovereignty ownership. 18

This Court could not have been more explicit in stating that its <u>Odom</u> holding was addressing the problem of title to navigable water bottoms. The majority opinion noted at the beginning:

The complex nature of the whole problem of navigable waters has created much doubt and controversy in attempting to determine what is or is not navigable water and sovereign land.

341 So.2d at 987. Thereafter, the concluding portion of the opinion stated:

It should be reiterated that, as stated in <u>Sawyer</u>, <u>supra</u>, ancient conveyances of <u>sovereign</u> lands in existence for more than thirty years, when the State has made no effort of record to reclaim same, clearly vests marketable title in the grantees, their successors or assigns and the land may be recovered only by direct purchase or through eminent domain proceedings.

341 So.2d at 989-90 (emphasis added).

of the majority opinion was to apply MRTA to navigable waters. Over the Trustees' continuing protestations, the Third and Fifth District Courts of Appeal have subsequently applied MRTA to navigable waterbodies. See State Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund v. Laney, 399 So.2d 408 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); State Department of Natural Resources v. Contemporary Land Sales, Inc., 400 So.2d 488 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund v. Paradise Fruit Company, Inc., 414 So.2d 10 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), review denied, 432 So.2d 37 (Fla. 1983). The Second District has now joined the other district courts. The federal courts have also perceived Odom as holding that the MRTA applies to lands under navigable waters. See Starnes v. Marcon Investment Group, 571 F.2d 1369 (5th Cir. 1978).

In the present case, the trial court also cited <u>Odom</u> as support for the judgment in respondents' favor as to the conclusive presumption established by Section 197.228(2), Florida Statutes (1981), which provides:

Navigable waters in this state shall not extend to any permanent or transient waters in the form of so-called lakes, ponds, swamps or overflowed lands, lying over and upon areas which have heretofore been conveyed to private individuals by the United States or by the State without reservation of public rights in and to said waters. [Emphasis added.]

The trial court judgment in Odom, republished by this Court in its opinion, noted that this statute<sup>19</sup> took pains to recognize the effectiveness of governmental conveyances purporting to transfer swamp and overflowed lands "unless the instrument makes a reservation of them." 341 So.2d at 982. There is no such reservation in any of the deeds in this case. Odom further construed Section 197.228(2) as establishing "certain conclusive presumptions and limitations of claims":

There is a recognition in Section 197.228(2) that an unconditional conveyance by the state or national government of a described area to private ownership without a specific reservation is in itself a contemporaneous finding that such area is not sovereignty property and that such finding should not be questioned. The actions of duly constituted authority are recognized as entitled to be regarded as based on a proper exercise of powers conferred and not a usurpation or other illegal conduct.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>The Trustees' argument (Br. 25) that the statute quoted above is limited in its application to lakes and ponds is incorrect. No Florida decision so limits the statute, which expressly covers "swamps or overflowed lands."

341 So.2d at 984.

The Trustees' criticism (Br. 28) of the conclusive presumption established by section 197.228(2) should be addressed to the legislature and not to the courts. Eight regular sessions of the legislature have convened since this Court's Odom decision, and the legislature has not seen fit to amend the statute in light of the construction placed upon it by this Court.

The law of Florida, embodied in Section 197.228(2) and in cases decided by the Florida appellate courts, effectively affirms and incorporates the corresponding federal doctrine that in the administration of the public land system factual determinations of the federal land department are final, including factual decisions as to the physical character of lands being "swamp and overflow lands." Odom v. Deltona Corp.; Pembroke v. Peninsular Terminal Co., 146 So. 249, 258-59 (Fla. 1933); see United States v. Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul Railway Company, 218 U.S. 233 (1910); McCormick v. Hayes, 159 U.S. 332 (1895); Heath v. Wallace, 138 U.S. 573 (1891); French v. Fyan, 93 U.S. 169 (1876); see also Johnson v. Drew, 171 U.S. 93 (1898).

Contemporaneous state and federal findings, concurred in by both sovereigns, go beyond the presumption of nonnavigability based on nonmeandering by the surveyor, and support application of the rule of law that the concurrent judgment of the State and the Secretary of the Interior as to the physical character of land is final and not subject to relitigation in the courts. In <u>French v. Fyan</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Supreme Court of the United States held:

[I]t would be a departure from sound principle, and contrary to well considered judgments in this court and in others of high authority, to permit the validity of the patent to the State to be subjected to the test of the verdict of a jury on such oral testimony as might be brought before it. It would be substituting the jury, or the court sitting as a jury, for the tribunal which Congress had provided to determine the question, and would be making a patent of the United States a cheap and unstable reliance as a title for lands which it purported to convey.

93 U.S. at 169-73.

McCormick v. Hayes, supra, was an appeal from a state court. Following a survey of a section of land, the Secretary of the Interior had classified only a portion of the section as swamp and overflowed land at the request of the state governor, omitting the land in question from the classification. The Supreme Court held that the state court erred in admitting parol evidence in an attempt to overturn the Secretary's factual determination as to the character of the land. McCormick established that once the Secretary of the Interior, concurrently with the governor of the state, determined the character of the land, this finding was final and binding on all courts, including the state court:

Upon the authority of former adjudications, as well as upon principle, it must be held that parol evidence is inadmissible to show, in opposition to the concurrent action of Federal and state officers, having authority in the premises, that the lands were in fact on the date of the Act of 1850, swamp and overflowed grounds. . . .

159 U.S. at 348. See also <u>Heath v. Wallace</u>, 138 U.S. 573, 585 (1891) ("[T]he decision of the Land Department on the question of

the actual physical character of certain lands is not subject to review by the courts").

This Court has adopted the same view in <u>Pembroke v.</u>

<u>Peninsular Terminal Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>. In that case a landowner's title was challenged on the ground that a Trustees' conveyance of submerged lands into private ownership "erroneously or falsely recited that the lands conveyed were lands 'upon which the water is not more than three feet deep at high tide'" and that the Trustees were without authority to deed the lands. Rejecting the challenge, the Court agreed with the trial court that "the title and ownership of the land in question should rest upon a grant, and not upon an evidentiary fact." 146 So. at 257.

The Trustees seek to avoid the basis for the lower court's holding in respondents' favor, as reviewed above, by arguing the line of this Court's decisions holding that prior to 1969 the Trustees were without authority to convey sovereignty lands. Aside from the point made above, that the lands here involved are swamp and overflowed lands, school lands or internal improvement lands as a matter of law, the Trustees' authorities all suffer from a common deficiency rendering them inapplicable in the present context: in none of them did the State seek to impeach the showing made by the official government survey as to navigability.

The Trustees' "notice of navigability" (Br. 20) argument has never been accepted in a case such as the present one in

which the government survey reflects no navigable waterbody. In Odom the Court recognized that a "notice" doctrine applies to obviously navigable waterbodies, such as Lake Okeechobee, located on unsurveyed land at the time a deed is issued; but the Court further recognized that it would be "absurd" to apply this doctrine to small, nonmeandered lakes and ponds on surveyed land.

The trial court's judgment in the Estech case correctly read Martin v. Busch as follows:

The Martin court stated, at 285:

Where sales and conveyances of unsurveyed swamp and overflowed lands are made by the trustees of the internal improvement fund, it is the duty of the state to survey the lands intended to be conveyed so that the location and boundaries thereof may be identified and established.

By contrast, once an official government survey of land establishes no navigable watercourses on the land, and the land is subsequently acquired by the State and then conveyed by the trustees as swamp and overflow land without limitation of the full acreage shown by the survey, and with no reservation of state-owned sovereignty land, the land so conveyed is not subject to any "notice of navigability."

(A 30).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>The Trustees trace their "notice of navigability" argument to Martin v. Busch, 93 Fla. 535, 112 So. 274 (1927), although the opinion in that case does not use the term, but says instead: "The grantee takes with notice that the conveyance of swamp and overflowed lands does not in law cover any sovereignty lands," i.e., lands within the borders of "a [surveyed] navigable lake." 112 So. at 286.

Under this point it should finally be noted that the Trustees' lengthy review of the nature and purpose of the "public trust doctrine" (Br. 12-22) is quite immaterial in view of the adjudication below. The lower court's decision avoids any questions that might arise concerning the public trust doctrine and the State's continuing police power over the land. The lower court included the following admonition in the Estech case:

This final judgment does not extinguish any rights of the public to use the waters of the Peace River or any other waterbody on the lands, if any exist, for boating, fishing, swimming, or other public purposes, nor does it establish any right in Estech. . . to prevent or interfere with any such public use. It is not necessary in this case to now decide how the deeds and other past conduct of the State affected public use or other governmental rights in any waterbody on the lands because Estech has excluded any such rights from the claims it has sued to remove, and because the State has not alleged that Estech has invaded such rights and has not sought affirmative relief from this Court (whose jurisdiction it denies) to declare or enforce such rights.

Even if the watercourses involved here should be found navigable today, the foregoing adjudication amply serves the rule followed in Florida since the 1800s that the public trust is satisfied by a servitude impressed against each navigable watercourse, without regard to title to the underlying bottom. State v. Black River Phosphate Co., 13 So. 640 (Fla. 1893); see also Gies v. Fischer, 146 So.2d 361 (Fla. 1962) ("exercise of

retained power under the trust doctrine").<sup>21</sup> So far as the record in this case discloses, there has been no threat to the integrity of the waters of the Peace or Alafia rivers; the entire title dispute is over who has a right to the phosphate underneath the ground.

In conclusion under this point, the overriding reason for upholding the judgment below is that the record irrefutably shows that both the United States and the State of Florida have deeded the lands into private ownership. These governmental conveyances stood unchallenged for almost 125 years after the official surveys. The judgment quieting respondents' titles in no way impairs the exercise of any legitimate governmental power over the lands. The Trustees have not asserted any claims alleging trespass or seeking restoration of mined lands, but have limited their claim to one for money damages for alleged conversion of phosphate rock -- a claim that in no way involves the public trust doctrine.

 $<sup>^{21}</sup>$  [P]rivate ownership of a bed of a navigable waterbody is not in itself inconsistent with public use of overlying waters. . . .

<sup>&</sup>quot;[P]ublic rights to use of the water can be protected without necessarily invalidating those privately held deeds which may have already been granted to the bottomland. This result can be explained on the theory that the trust doctrine applies separately to the waters of a navigable waterbody, as well as to the beds when they are state owned. The waters and the rights to them are thus held in trust for the public, regardless of bed ownership." Maloney, Plager & Baldwin, Water Law and Administration, 1968, Ch. 12 at 402, citing Gies v. Fischer. The Trustees acknowledge the "credibility" of this treatise (Br. 30).

# II. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE TRUSTEES ARE ESTOPPED BY THEIR DEEDS TO CHALLENGE RESPONDENTS' TITLES.

An alternative ground<sup>22</sup> relied upon by the trial court in upholding respondents' titles against the claims of Coastal and the Trustees was the doctrine of legal estoppel, or estoppel by deed. The Trustees challenge that ruling by arguing that none of the cases cited by the trial court<sup>23</sup> "applied legal estoppel to bar a Trustees' claim to sovereignty submerged lands which the Trustees were not empowered to alienate" (Br. 35) (emphasis in original). Analysis of the Lobean decision proves the Trustees wrong.

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